## SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

EMMA MURRAY,

Petitioner,

CASE NO.: SC07-244

vs.

Lwr Tribunal: 1D06-475

MARINER HEALTH/ACE USA,

Respondent.

\_\_\_\_\_/

## PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

BRIAN O. SUTTER, ESQUIRE 2340 Tamiami Trail Port Charlotte, Florida 33952 Counsel for Claimant/Petitioner BILL MCCABE, ESQUIRE 1450 SR 434 West, Suite 200 Longwood, Florida 32750 Co-Counsel for Claimant/Petitioner

This is an appeal from an opinion of the First District Court of Appeal, dated October 16, 2006.

####

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Petitioner, EMMA MURRAY, shall be referred to herein as the "Claimant" or by her separate name.

The Respondents, MARINER HEALTH/ACE USA, shall be referred to herein as the "Employer/Carrier" (E/C) or by their separate names.

References to the record on appeal shall be abbreviated by the letter "V" (Volume), followed by the applicable volume and page number.

The Judge of Compensation Claims will be referred to as the JCC.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On 1/10/04, the Claimant, EMMA MURRAY, filed a Petition for Benefits for injuries sustained in an accident occurring on 10/31/03 (V1-2-6).

On 12/12/04 a hearing on the aforementioned PFB was held before the Honorable Judge of Compensation Claims Dan F. Turnbull (V1-12). At that hearing, Claimant sought, <u>inter alia</u>, the following benefits:

- Proper payment of temporary total disability (TTD) or temporary partial disability (TPD) benefits from 10/31/03 to present and continuing.
- Medical care for Claimant's second degree uterine prolapse.
- 3. Penalties, interest, costs, and attorney's fees (V1-12,13).

The E/C defended the claim, <u>inter</u> <u>alia</u>, on the following grounds:

- 1. That no injury arose out of and in the course of employment.
- 2. Fraud per <u>F.S</u>.440.105; Claimant provided an inaccurate and incomplete medical history to Dr. Domingo.
- 3. The major contributing factor for Claimant's prolapsed uterus was her birthing experience.

 No penalties, interest, costs, or attorney's fees are owed (V1-13).

Thereafter, on 5/9/05 the Honorable JCC Dan F. Turnbull entered a Final Compensation Order (V1-12-18). In that order, the JCC found the most convincing testimony came from Dr. Swor, a highly credentialed obstetrician/gynecologist, who testified Claimant's need for surgery was directly related to her lifting on the job (V1-16). The JCC found Dr. Swor indicated the lifting incident at work is the major contributing cause for the need for surgery as well as Claimant's disability that occurred subsequent to her accident (V1-16).

Based upon the aforementioned findings the JCC ordered and adjudged that:

- The E/C shall pay TTD from 11/1/03 through 1/30/04 in the stipulated amount of \$1,763.86.
- The E/C shall reimburse reasonable and necessary out of pocket medical expenses in the stipulated amount of \$1,092.57.
- 3. The E/C shall pay \$352.78 in penalties and \$35.00 in interest.
- 4. Jurisdiction shall be reserved over the claim for costs, including the cost of the independent medical evaluation of Dr. Swor and reasonable attorney's fees (V1-17).

Thereafter, on 8/8/05 counsel for Claimant filed a Verified Motion for Attorney's Fees (V1-21,22).

Thereafter, on 8/10/05 a hearing on the aforementioned Verified Petition for Attorney's Fees was held before the Honorable JCC Dan F. Turnbull (V1-141). At that hearing, Claimant sought the following:

- 1. Claimant was seeking a reasonable attorney's fee per the provisions of <u>F.S</u>.440.34(3)(2003) to be determined based on the "Lee Engineering" factors, see <u>Lee Engineering and</u> <u>Construction v. Fellows</u>, 209 So.2d 454(Fla.1968), (V2-255).
- 2. Claimant was seeking \$200 an hour for 84.4 hours for a total attorney's fee of \$16,880 (V1-36, V2-261,266,272,273).
- 3. Reimbursement of costs in the amount of \$2,098.83 (V1-26, V2-266).

Claimant contended the statutory guideline fee set forth in <u>F.S</u>.440.34(1)(2003) applies only in those situations where the parties enter into a settlement agreement, and would not apply to the case at bar, because the statutory guideline fee would not be reasonable and would be manifestly unfair (V2-255-257).

Counsel for Claimant also contended that if Claimant's attorney's fees are limited to the guideline fee then F.S.440.34(1)(2003) and F.S.440.34(3)(2003) are unconstitutional

as a violation of equal protection, access to the courts and separation of powers (V2-254,258,259).

The E/C defended the claim, <u>inter</u> <u>alia</u>, on the following grounds:

- 1. The Claimant is entitled to a carrier paid attorney's fee, but the attorney's fee must be based solely on the statutory guideline formula contained in F.S.440.34(1)(2003), (V1-49, V2-203).
- 2. In the alternative, if Claimant was to be paid at an hourly rate, the maximum hourly rate the Claimant could receive would be \$150 per hour per the provisions of F.S.440.34(7)(2003) (V1-177, V2-214).

Thereafter, on 1/17/06 the Honorable JCC Dan F. Turnbull entered his Final Compensation Order (V2-302-313). In that order the JCC found the initial merit proceedings in this case, resulting in the 5/9/05 order, involved difficult and complex factual, legal and medical issues (V2-305). The JCC found the total amount of benefits secured by counsel for Claimant was 3,244.21 (V2-304). The JCC found that a statutory guideline attorney's fee per <u>F.S</u>.440.34(1)(2003) would be \$648.84 yielding an hourly rate of \$8.11 per hour (V2-306).

The JCC found it was the Legislative intent to limit the award of attorney's fees to the statutory formula set forth in F.S.440.34(1)(2003) in most situations (V2-307). The JCC

therefore found that a "reasonable" attorney's fee awarded in this case is 648.84 even though that resulted in an hourly rate of 8.11 per hour and totally ignored the so-called <u>Lee</u> Engineering factors (V2-307).

The JCC found the JCC lacked the jurisdiction to adjudicate the constitutionality of the statute (V2-307).

The JCC further found that had the JCC utilized the <u>Lee</u> <u>Engineering</u> criteria, a reasonable attorney's fee in this case would be \$16,000 based on eighty hours of work at \$200 per hour (V2-308-310).

Based upon the foregoing the JCC ordered and adjudged as follows:

- 1. The Employer/Carrier shall pay an attorney's fee to Claimant's counsel in the amount of \$648.84.
- 2. The Employer/Carrier shall reimburse costs in the amount of \$2,123 to Claimant's counsel (V2-312).

On October 16, 2006 the First District Court of Appeal entered an opinion affirming the JCC's 1/17/06 order, <u>Murray v.</u> Mariner's Health/ACE USA, 946 So.2d 38(Fla.1st DCA 2006).

On 10/30/07 this Honorable Court entered an order accepting jurisdiction of this case.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Claimant, EMMA MURRAY, is a fifty-five year old woman with a high school education who was employed with the employer herein as a certified nurse's assistant (V1-15). On 10/31/03, Claimant was assisting a co-worker in lifting a patient from a chair into bed (V1-15). While lifting that patient, Claimant felt something "move" or tear in her abdomen (V1-15). Claimant continued to work and finished her duties for that day (V1-15). Later at home, Claimant inspected herself while in the shower and felt a bulge in her vaginal area (V1-15).

Eventually, on 11/4/03 Dr. Jose Domingo diagnosed symptomatic pelvic relaxation including a moderate to large cystocele, second degree uterine prolapse and a mild rectocele (V1-15). Dr. Domingo recommended a total vaginal hysterectomy, bilateral salping oophorectomy and an anterior/posterior colporrhaphy which surgery was performed on 12/8/03(V1-15).

The E/C initially gave authorization for care by Dr. Domingo, however, that care was de-authorized when the Claimant's claim was totally controverted on 12/11/2003 (V1-15).

On 1/2/04 Claimant filed a Petition for Benefits (V1-2-6).

As indicated in the Statement of the Case, a hearing on the aforementioned PFB was held before the Honorable Judge of Compensation Claims Dan F. Turnbull on 12/12/04 (V1-12).

Additionally, as indicated in the Statement of the Case, the JCC entered an order on 5/9/05, rejecting all of the E/C's defenses, finding Claimant's condition compensable, and ordering the E/C to pay TTD from 11/1/03 through 1/30/04 in the stipulated amount of \$1,762.86, reimburse the reasonable and necessary out of pocket medical expenses to Dr. Swor and Dr. Domingo in the stipulated amount of \$1,092.57, penalties in the amount of \$352.78 and \$35.00 in interest (V1-17).

Brian O. Sutter is counsel for Claimant. Mr. Sutter graduated from Indiana University Business School in 1979 and Stetson Law School in 1982 (V2-261). Mr. Sutter has been practicing workers' compensation since 1985 (V2-261). Mr. Sutter is rated AV by Martindale Hubbell, which is the highest rating given (V2-262). Mr. Sutter has been board certified since 1990 in workers' compensation with recertification in 1995 and 2000 (V2-262). Mr. Sutter is a member of the workers' compensation section of the Florida Bar (V2-262). He is a member of the Florida Worker's Advocates (V2-262). He has been a board member of that organization since 1995, and president in 2003 (V2-262). Mr. Sutter has written articles and lectured on a variety of issues in workers' compensation (V2-263). Mr. Sutter has practiced workers' compensation in Charlotte County for over eighteen years and is the only workers' compensation attorney located in Charlotte County (V2-263).

Mr. Sutter indicated he had expended a total of 84.4 hours in representing the Claimant (V1-36). The JCC specifically found 80 hours were reasonable and necessary to obtain the benefits awarded to the Claimant (V2-308).

The JCC specifically found:

"The novelty and difficulty of the questions involved in this litigation were daunting. The requisite skill required to prevail was of the greatest magnitude. Cases with this degree of difficulty require not only a practitioner with a concentration in workers' compensation but one who performs in the top tier of the practice. Even practitioners who specialize in workers' compensation frequently lose many cases comparable in complexity to this one. The skill required and provided by Mr. Sutter is at the high end of any scale that might be used to evaluate that criteria." (V2-308).

The JCC further found:

"Adding to the inherent difficulty of the questions of fact in medicine in this matter is the uncertainty resulting from unsettled issues arising from the 2003 statutory changes. In addition to amendments to the attorney's fee provisions, the new statute also increases the burden of of complexity required to proof and degree prove entitlement to benefits. These changes clearly make it more difficult for a Claimant to prevail and therefore increase the contingency of Claimant's counsel receiving a fee. Several of these changes apply to the case at bar, apportionment, exclusion including of preexisting condition, issues relating to major contributing cause, the judgment, and other evidentiary issues." (V2offer of 308,309).

The JCC also found, as to this factor, in his 1/17/06

order:

"Also adding to the difficulty of this case was the Employer/Carrier's assertion that the Claimant committed 'fraud' (a violation of Section 440.105 Florida Statutes with a resulting forfeiture of benefits pursuant to Section

440.09(4), Florida Statutes.) The Employer/Carrier based that misrepresentation defense on the allegation that Claimant had not told her treating workers' compensation physician about a previous history of prolapsed uterus. Although it is correct that a prior gynecologist noted a 'mildly prolapsed uterus' prior to the Claimant's industrial injury, the Claimant was able to overcome the defense of the alleged '105 violation'. . ." (V2-309).

Mr. Sutter testified that although he was only seeking \$200 per hour in this case (V2-261,272,273), \$250 to \$300 is what is customary in Charlotte County, Florida in virtually every other analogous area of the law (V2-264).

Mr. Sutter testified that the contingency or certainty of recovering a fee was directly tied to the difficulty of the case, novelty and skill requisite to perform the legal service properly (V2-265). Concerning this factor, the JCC found:

"This factor would mitigate towards an upward adjustment to a fee which would otherwise be awardable under <u>Lee</u> <u>Engineering</u>. As indicated above, the difficulty and novelty of the questions posed in this matter were high and contingency was correspondingly high." (V2-310).

Mr. Sutter also expended \$2,098.83 in out of pocket costs in prosecuting the case (V1-26, V2-266).

Mr. Sutter further testified that the amount of \$648 for something in the neighborhood of 80 hours is manifestly unfair (V2-265). It would provide not only a chilling effect on counsel for Claimant's willingness to take a case like this, but there was nobody who would take this case to receive \$8.11 an hour (V2-265).

Peter Burkert, board certified attorney in workers' compensation (V2-202) and Rosemary Eure, an attornev specializing in workers' compensation for sixteen years (V2-232) testified that if there is a finding in this case that would only yield a fee in the amount of \$8 to \$10 per hour, a Claimant would not be able to hire an attorney to represent them (V2-202,235,236). Both testified Claimants are unable to handle a like this themselves due to the case complex workers' compensation litigation system (V2-203,236).

Cora Malloy, an attorney who has been practicing workers' compensation with a defense firm since 1996 (V1-145,146) testified it would be extremely difficult for a lay person to tackle the legal issues, the new law issues, old law issues without the assistance of competent counsel (V1-169). Ms. Malloy acknowledged counsel for the E/C, in the case at bar, invested 135 hours in defending the claim, was paid at the rate of \$125 an hour, and made \$16,050 for their role in defending the claim up through the date of trial (V1-185).

Keith Hanenian has been an attorney in Florida for fourteen years (V2-216,217). Mr. Hanenian was vice president and claims counsel with the Zenith Insurance Company (V2-217). Mr. Hanenian's responsibilities included complete oversight of all workers' compensation claims that were litigated within the State of Florida (V2-217).

Mr. Hanenian testified the hourly rate in a workers' compensation case in the last five years in "District M South" was from \$150 to \$250 per hour prior to the 10/1/03 amendments (V2-221,228). Mr. Hanenian testified it was possible to retain board certified workers' compensation attorneys for defense at \$125 per hour (V2-223). Mr. Hanenian testified he generally charges between \$105 and \$135 an hour when representing an insurance company on work for which there is no contingency (V2-224,225). Mr. Hanenian agreed that if a fee yielded counsel for Claimant between \$8.50 to \$10 an hour it would be "manifestly unfair" (V2-227). Mr. Hanenian also testified the 10/1/03 statutory changes to the workers' compensation law involved changes dealing with major contributing cause and preexisting conditions (V2-229).

A more specific reference to facts will be made during argument.

## POINTS ON APPEAL

#### POINT I

THE JCC AND THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED, AS A MATTER OF LAW, IN CONCLUDING THAT THE DETERMINATION OF A "REASONABLE ATTORNEY'S FEE FROM A CARRIER OR EMPLOYER" AS PROVIDED BY <u>F.S.</u>440.34(3)(2003), IS LIMITED TO THE STATUTORY GUIDELINE FEE SET FORTH IN <u>F.S.</u>440.34(1)(2003), EVEN WHEN IT RESULTS IN A "MANIFESTLY UNFAIR" FEE.

## POINT II

IF THE DETERMINATION OF THE JCC AND THE FIRST DCA THAT A "REASONABLE ATTORNEY'S FEE" AS SET FORTH IN <u>F.S</u>.440.34(3)(2003) IS LIMITED TO THE STATUTORY GUIDELINE FEE SET FORTH IN <u>F.S</u>.440.34(1)(2003) IS CORRECT, THEN <u>F.S</u>.440.34(1)(2003) AND <u>F.S</u>.440.34(3)(2003) AND <u>F.S</u>.440.34(7)(2003) ARE UNCONSTITUTIONAL, IN THAT THEY VIOLATE CLAIMANT'S RIGHT TO EQUAL PROTECTION, PER ARTICLE I, SECTION 2 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE XIV, SECTION I OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION, BECAUSE THERE IS NO CORRESPONDING ATTORNEY'S FEE "CAP" ON ANY ATTORNEY'S FEES PAID TO COUNSEL FOR THE E/C.

#### POINT III

IF THE DETERMINATION OF THE JCC AND THE FIRST DCA THAT A "REASONABLE ATTORNEY'S FEE" AS SET FORTH IN <u>F.S.440.34(3)(2003)</u> IS LIMITED TO THE STATUTORY GUIDELINE FEE SET FORTH IN <u>F.S.440.34(1)(2003)</u> IS CORRECT, THEN <u>F.S.440.34(1)(2003)</u>, 440.34(3)(2003) AND <u>F.S.440.34(7)(2003)</u> ARE UNCONSTITUTIONAL IN THAT THEY VIOLATE THE CLAIMANT'S DUE PROCESS RIGHTS UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF ARTICLE I, SECTION 9 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE XIV, SECTION I OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

#### POINT IV

IF THE DETERMINATION OF THE JCC AND THE FIRST DCA THAT A "REASONABLE ATTORNEY'S FEE" AS SET FORTH IN <u>F.S</u>.440.34(3)(2003) IS LIMITED TO THE STATUTORY GUIDELINE FEE SET FORTH IN <u>F.S</u>.440.34(1)(2003) IS CORRECT, THEN <u>F.S</u>.440.34(1)(2003), <u>F.S</u>.440.34(3)(2003) AND <u>F.S</u>.440.34(7)(2003) ARE UNCONSTITUTIONAL IN THAT THEY VIOLATE CLAIMANT'S RIGHT TO ACCESS TO THE COURTS, AS GUARANTEED BY ARTICLE I, SECTION 21 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

#### POINT V

IF THE DETERMINATION OF THE JCC AND THE FIRST DCA THAT A "REASONABLE ATTORNEY'S FEE" AS SET FORTH IN <u>F.S</u>.440.34(3)(2003) IS LIMITED TO THE STATUTORY GUIDELINE FEE SET FORTH IN <u>F.S</u>.440.34(1)(2003) IS CORRECT, THEN <u>F.S</u>.440.34(1)(2003), <u>F.S</u>.440.34(3)(2003) AND <u>F.S</u>.440.34(7)(2003) ARE UNCONSTITUTIONAL, IN THAT THEY VIOLATE THE SEPARATION OF POWERS PROVISIONS OF ARTICLE II, SECTION 3, ARTICLE V, SECTION 1 AND ARTICLE V, SECTION 15 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Ι

<u>F.S</u>.440.34(3)(a)-(d)(2003) provides, <u>inter</u> <u>alia</u>, that a Claimant shall be entitled to recover a **reasonable attorney's fee from a carrier or employer** under certain enumerated circumstances, two of which have occurred in the case at bar.

In Lee Engineering and Construction Company v. Fellows, 209 So.2d 454(Fla.1968), this Honorable Court held a "reasonable attorney's fee" in a workers' compensation case was to be determined by considering various listed factors (time and labor, et al).

Effective 10/1/77, 440.34(1) was amended to include, for the first time, a statutory guideline attorney's fee, see <u>F.S.440.34(1)(1977)</u>. The aforementioned statute also set forth other enumerated factors from this Honorable Court's decision in <u>Lee Engineering and Construction Company v. Fellows</u>, Supra, for the JCC to consider and the JCC could increase or decrease the guideline attorney's fee if in his judgment, the circumstances of the particular case warranted such action.

Effective 10/1/03, the Legislature amended <u>F.S</u>.440.34(1)(2003) by leaving in the statutory guideline fee, but by eliminating the other enumerated factors from <u>Lee</u> <u>Engineering</u>, Supra. However, the statutory language in F.S.440.34(3)(2003) which is the portion of the attorney's fee

statute that allows a Claimant to recover an "attorney's fee" from the Employer/Carrier under certain circumstances, was unchanged.

It is Claimant's position that when a Claimant is entitled to recover an attorney's fee from the E/C as provided in <u>F.S</u>.440.34(3)(2003), a calculation of a Claimant's reasonable attorney's fee should be based on the factors enumerated by this Honorable Court in <u>Lee Engineering</u>, Supra. It is Claimant's further position that the limitation of an attorney's fee based on the statutory guideline set forth in <u>F.S</u>.440.34(1)(2003) applies only in those instances where there is a joint stipulation for lump sum settlement, or a stipulation or agreement between a Claimant and his or her attorney.

Alternatively, if a "reasonable attorney's fee" as set forth in <u>F.S.440.34(3)(2003)</u> is construed to be limited to the statutory guidelines set forth in <u>F.S.440.34(1)(2003)</u>, Claimant submits a JCC, under exceptional circumstances, may nevertheless exceed the statutory guideline fee, <u>Makemson v. Martin County</u>, 491 So.2d 1109(Fla.1986).

#### II

If <u>F.S.440.34(3)(2003)</u> and <u>F.S.440.34(1)(2003)</u> are interpreted to limit a Claimant's attorney's fee to the statutory guideline amount, even if that results in a manifestly unfair attorney's fee to the Claimant, then the aforementioned

statute violates Claimant's equal protection rights, because there is no corresponding "cap" or "limit" on the amount that the Employer/Carrier can pay their attorneys, <u>Horn v. New Mexico</u> <u>Educators Federal Credit Union</u>, 889 P. 2<sup>nd</sup> 234(N.M. CT of App. 1994).

#### III

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