SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

EMMA MURRAY,

Appellant,

CASE NO: SC07-244

vs. Lower Tribunal: 1D06-475

MARINER HEALTH/ACE USA, properly named ACE AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY

Appellees,

ANSWER BRIEF OF MARINER HEALTH/ACE AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY

JOHN R. DARIN, II, ESQUIRE ZNOSKO & REAS Attorney for Appellees Post Office Box 941389 Maitland, Florida 32794-1389 (407) 786-2900

CHERYL L. WILKE HINSHAW & CULBERTSON LLP Attorneys for Appellees One East Broward Blvd., Suite 1010 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 (954) 467-7900

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE JCC AND THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DID NOT ERR IN FOLLOWING THE LAW AS SET FORTH IN FLORIDA STATUTES 440.34 (2003)...

440.34 Florida Statutes (2003) specifically states:

Any attorney's fee approved by a judge of compensation claims for benefits secured on behalf of a claimant <u>must</u> equal to 20% of the first \$5,000.00 of the amount of the benefit secured, 15% of the next \$5,000.00 of the amount of the benefit secured, 10% of the remaining amount of the benefit secured to be provided during the first ten years after the date the claim is filed, and 5% of the benefit secured after ten years. The judge of compensation claims <u>shall not</u> approve a compensation order, a joint stipulation or a lump-sum settlement, a stipulation or agreement between the claimant and his or her attorney, or any other agreement related to benefits under this chapter that provides for an attorney's fee in excess of the amount permitted by this section.

(emphasis added.)

Clearly, the Appellant strains the clear and unambiguous language of the statute in arguing that a later provision found at 440.34(3) Florida Statutes (2003), which entitles a prevailing claimant to recover a "reasonable" attorney's fee from a carrier or employer, supersedes the section set forth above. Appellant contends the language set forth above should be ignored and this Court should revert to <u>Lee</u>

Engineering and Construction Company v. Fellows, 209 So.2d 454 (Fla. 1960). The criteria set forth in Lee Engineering and Construction Company, supra, which was codified by the Legislature, had overburdened the workers' compensation system. Hourly fee awards encouraged protracted litigation through the filing of multiple petitions which backlogged dockets and made it more profitable for attorneys to take issues to trial rather than seek resolution. There was that was little "reasonable" about the exorbitant fees paid to injured workers' attorneys for litigating minor issues. Likewise, in the case at bar, the claimant refused an Offer of Settlement that would have resulted in more monies being paid to her and her attorney than were award at trial.

Just as <u>Lee Engineering</u> has never been overturned by Court decision, neither has <u>Florida Erection Services</u>, <u>Inc. v. McDonald</u>, 395 So.2d 203 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981) been overturned. This case provided a basis for a bad faith award of attorney fees citing to F.S. 440.34(2)(b)(1979). However, in 1990, the Florida Legislature amended F.S. 440.34 (1990) eliminating bad faith fees and, as a result, the holding in *Florida Erection Services*, <u>Inc.</u>, is no longer applicable.

In the case at bar, claimant would have this Court resurrect <u>Lee Engineering</u> and all related attorney fee cases and apply those provisions to award a fee greater

than that set forth in F.S. 440.34 (2003).

Clearly, the Legislature amended the statute specifically to eliminate the factors of <u>Lee Engineering</u>. Just as the bad faith provision of <u>Florida Erection</u>

<u>Services</u> cannot be utilized to award attorney fees after 1990, neither should <u>Lee</u>

<u>Engineering</u> be resurrected to allow this Court to apply case law concepts expressly rejected by the Legislature in 2003.

As to fairness, the Legislature made an accommodation for those cases involving medical care unjustly denied to the claimant. In those cases, the E/C can be assessed an hourly fee up to \$1,500.00 per Florida Statutes 440.34(7) (2003). It is only indemnity issues for which the statutory fee formula strictly applies.

Prior to the enactment of the Florida Workers' Compensation system, an employee injured at work had no common law right to attorney's fees to be paid by the employer or carrier if he or she prevailed at trial. The current legislation provides the employee with a payment of attorney's fees so that they can net the total amount of benefits secured. Part of the legislative intent in enacting Florida Statutes 440.34 (2003) was to provide penalty and interest provisions for benefits inappropriately denied in Florida Statutes 440.20(6)(7) and (8), and cost awards, including attorney's fees, for frivolously filed claims as set forth in Florida Statute

440.32.

Florida Statutes 440.34(1) read *in para meteria* with section (3) would suggest that a "reasonable" attorney fee would be one in accord with the percentages listed in section (1). Furthermore, if this Court were to consider what the term "reasonable" means separate and apart from the percentage guidelines, consideration should be given to the fairness of the system as a whole as opposed to any individual case. For example, Appellant argues that the percentage fee amounting to \$8.11 per hour in Emma Murray's case is manifestly unfair, but in the case of *What An Idea, Inc. v. Sitko*, 505 So.2d 497 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), guidelines sought by the claimant's counsel amounted to \$2,700.00 per hour.

The extremely low and extremely high award cases are the exceptions to the rule in a system which has been applied in Florida for decades and continues to function with the enactment of the 2003 amendments.

Appellant argues that, if the Legislature adds a provision which codifies case law, and later deletes the provision, the deletion of that provision does not abrogate the prior judicial construction and cites in support of that proposition <u>Sam's Club v.</u>

<u>Bair</u>, 678 So.2d 902 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996). However, <u>Sam's Club</u> is distinguishable. At page 904 of its decision, that Court stated:

Although it might be reasonable to conclude that the Legislature intended to eliminate reimbursement for costs of transportation by deleting that provision from the 1993 amendment, any such conclusion must be harmonized with recognition that the Legislature reenacted the longstanding requirement that the employer shall furnish "remedial treatment, care, and attendance for such period as the nature of the injury or process of recovery may require." Accordingly, the Legislature must be presumed to have continued its approval of the Supreme Court's construction of this language in Mobley v. Jack & Son Plumbing, 170 So.2d 41 (Fla. 1964) to permit reimbursement of medical transportation. In the case at bar, there is no actual conflict between the amendment omitting the express authorization of transportation costs, and the retained language of Section 440.13(2)(a) requiring remedial treatment, care and attendance, and therefore the legislative acts can be harmonized.

In the instant case, though, the Legislature intentionally omitted the codified version of the <u>Lee Engineering</u> criteria. It substituted the percentage guidelines already in the statute along with new language indicating that a judge of compensation claims shall not approve orders or stipulations in excess of the amount permitted in that section.

The Appellant also cites <u>Makemson v. Martin County</u>, 491 So.2d 109 (Fla. 1986), a criminal case, and <u>Board of County Commissioners of Hillsborough</u>

<u>County v. Scruggs</u>, 545 So.2d 910 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1989), a parental termination proceeding, to suggest that fee caps are unconstitutional.

Appellees contend that the cases above are applicable to their limited statutory construction. Specifically, in criminal and parental termination cases, counsel is constitutionally mandated. As such, those cases are clearly distinguishable from workers' compensation proceedings in which there is no such constitutional right to counsel. The Florida Legislature has gone to extraordinary lengths to allow claimants to proceed without counsel by providing the Ombudsman's office under F.S. 440.191 (2003) as well as notice and disclosure requirements requiring employers to advise claimants of their rights under F.S. 440.01 et seq.

Finally, on page 25 of the Initial Brief, the Appellant argues that the reference in 440.34(1) Florida Statutes (2003)to a fee "approved" applies only to the approval of attorney's fees in a settlement or stipulation. In is unclear how this could be the case, as the statute clearly states the judge of compensation claims shall not approve a "compensation order" in excess of the percentage guidelines. *Id.* A compensation order would include any order requiring payment by an E/C or claimant.

II. THE 2003 AMENDMENT OF FLORIDA STATUTES 440.34 DOES NOT VIOLATE THE EQUAL PROTECTION CLAUSES OF THE FLORIDA AND UNITED STATES CONSTITUTIONS.

Appellant argues that a statutory cap on attorneys' fees paid to claimants' attorneys with no reciprocal cap on attorney's fees paid to defense attorneys handicaps claimants. However, there is nothing so unique in the workers' compensation system so as to require an extraordinary remedy to injured workers over and above that provided to any other injured plaintiff. Contingent fees to civil trial plaintiffs' attorneys and hourly fees to defense attorneys have been the standard in Florida. If anything, the Florida no-fault compensation system treats prevailing injured workers more favorably by granting attorneys' fees whereas the non-industrial tort system does are not usually award hourly fees to the prevailing party.

There are numerous states that do not provide for awards of hourly fees to claimant's counsel to be paid by the E/C.

California Labor Code Sec. 4907 (2005) expressly awards attorney fees to claimants (applicants) as a lien against the settlement proceeds. In these cases, the workers' compensation board can award an attorney fee of between nine to twelve percent (9-12%) of the award. In extraordinary cases, the judge can award a higher

fee in those cases that establish a new or obscure theory of injury or law or those cases involving highly disputed factual issues requiring detailed investigation, or interrogation of witnesses, or multiple or lengthy hearings, etc. However, even if a higher fee percentage is awarded, the award is paid by the claimant from the claimant's benefits not by the E/C. *Wheeler v. Beaton v. WCAB (Thomlinson)*, 46 Cal.Rptr.2d 581 (1995).

Likewise, under Illinois law, no claim for attorneys' fees - whether for benefits secured by agreement, award, or order of judgment in any court - shall exceed twenty percent (20%) of the amount of compensation recovered and paid, unless further fees are allowed to the attorney upon a hearing by the Commission fixing fees. IL ST CH 48 Sec. 138.16(a).

The claimant in this case properly asserts that rules of statutory construction require that all words used by the legislature be accorded plain and ordinary meaning. *Carson v. Miller*, 370 So.2d 10 (Fla. 1970).

Florida Statute 440.34(2003) in relevant part states the following:

"Any attorney's fee approved by a judge of compensation claims for benefits secured on behalf of a claimant <u>must</u> equal 20 percent of the first \$5,000.00 of the amount of benefits secured, 15 percent of the next \$5,000.00...etc."

(emphasis added)

The statute goes on to state that:

"The judge of compensation claims <u>shall not</u> approve a compensation order, a joint stipulation, . . . or any other agreement related to benefits under this chapter that provides for an attorney's fee in excess of the amount permitted by this chapter."

(emphasis added)

The definitive language of the above provisions clearly dictates that the Judge of Compensation Claims has the mandate to award an attorney fee in compliance with the statutory fee calculations of F.S. 440.34(1) (2003). The statute is neither vague nor ambiguous in any way, and the JCC complied with the statute in his ruling.

Statutes will not be interpreted in a manner that leads to an unreasonable or ridiculous result or a result obviously not intended by the Legislature. <u>Drury v. Harding</u>, 461 So.2d 104 (Fla. 1984). By using the specific words "must" and "shall not" as set forth above, the Legislature set forth a clear and unambiguous mandate to eliminate the award of hourly attorney fees payable by the E/C to the claimant as has been provided in F.S. 440.34(1) (2002).

Appellant argues that Florida Statutes 440.34 (2003) violates this injured worker's right to equal protection. In fact, the named party, Emma Murray, received all the benefits to which she was entitled by the Court's award.

The real issue here involves equal protection for injured workers' attorneys. In this case, an Offer of Settlement was made prior to trial. The acceptance of the Offer would have resulted in Emma Murray and her attorney receiving more money than they were awarded at trial. (V1-0076). The Appellees of course could not force the Appellant to settle her case or accept a higher offer than awarded by the Judge. The fact that the employer was forced by the Appellant to spend more money defending the case through trial does not establish a violation of Appellant's right to equal protection.

Claimant's counsel also asserts that the JCC's award is manifestly unfair. The Supreme Court has held that the appropriate remedy for an unfair statutory provision is modification by the Legislature, not the Courts. *Hillock v. Heilman*, 201 So.2d 544 (Fla. 1967). In the *Hillock* decision, the Florida Supreme Court held that Florida's guest statute and subsequent cases interpreting same may or may not be unfair. However, the ultimate remedy was not a decision for judicial review. In a special concurrence, Justice Thomas stated:

"Counsel for appellants argue with considerable eloquence that the challenged statute is unfair, but that is an appeal which should be properly addressed to the legislative body. It strikes me that the startling increase in automotive casualties while a matter of concern and worry to all Americans is a situation which cannot be remedied by judicial fiat."

Similarly, in the case at bar, if the issue is one of fairness, this Court is not the proper forum for such a debate. The legislative process is the proper forum to correct any unjust or unfair provisions.

The above analysis is true even in a statutory discrimination analysis. Statutory discrimination will not be set aside if any accommodation of facts reasonably may be conceived to justify it. As the U. S. Supreme Court stated in *Dandridge v. Williams*, 397 U.S. 471, 485, 90 S. Ct. 1153, 25 L. Ed. 2d 491 (U.S. 1970):

In the area of economics and social welfare, a state does not violate the Equal Protection Clause merely because the classifications made by its laws are imperfect. If the classification has some "reasonable basis", it does not offend the Constitution simply because the classification is not made with mathematical nicety or because in practice it results in some inequality. . . . The problems of government are practical ones and may justify, if they do not require rough accommodations-illogical, it may

be, and unscientific. (At 90 S. Ct. 1161).

Likewise, in <u>McGowan v. State of Md</u>., 366 U.S. 420, 426, 81 S. Ct. 1101 (U. S. 1961) the U. S. Supreme Court held that statutory discrimination will not be set aside if any state of facts may reasonably be conceived to justify it.

The party challenging a legislative enactment has the burden to negate every conceivable basis which might support it. *Gallagher v. Motor Ins. Corp.*, 605 So. 2d. 62, 68-69, (Fla. 1992).

In the instant case, the Legislature explained through wording in the statute itself why it was amending 440.01 et seq. at 440.015 Florida Statutes (2003).

First, the Legislature expressed an intent to treat more even-handedly both injured workers and industry by not having the facts in a case interpreted more liberally in favor of either side. Next, the Legislature stated that the workers' compensation laws were to be construed in accordance with the basic principles of statutory construction and not liberally in favor of either side. Finally, the Legislature also stated its intent to ensure the prompt delivery of benefits to the injured through an efficient system that is not an economic or administrative burden.

In amending the fee provisions of 440.34 Florida Statutes (2003), the

Legislature even-handedly extended the same guidelines for fees that injured workers had been using to pay their attorneys to the fee awards entered against carriers and self-insureds.

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